1954

Leonard Black and Vera Johnson v. David F. Anderson : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Vera Johnson also known as Vera Johnson Black is the polygamous wife of Leonard Black and from this unlawful relationship there have been born eight children ranging, now, from eighteen to two years of age. Subsequent to the so-called "Short Creek Raid" by Arizona State authorities, these children, the eldest being seventeen years of age, were declared and adjudged in juvenile court to be neglected

children within the meaning of the laws of Utah (R. 7).
That court held, in part:

“That the home of Leonard Black and Vera Johnson Black at Short Creek, Utah, is an immoral environment for the rearing of said children.

“That Leonard Black, the father, and Vera Johnson Black, the mother of said children, have each knowingly failed and neglected to provide for said children the proper maintenance, care, training and education contemplated and required by both law and morals.

“That both the public welfare and the welfare of the children requires that the rights of custody and control over said children be taken from their parents” (R. 13, 14).

The parents, above referred to, were thereupon deprived of their custody and control over said children and the children made wards of the juvenile court and subjected to the *continuing jurisdiction* of that court. The right of custody and control over said children was awarded to the Utah State Department of Public Welfare, said department being authorized and instructed to place the children in suitable foster homes; provided, however:

“* * * that said children may remain in the actual custody of their parents upon the following conditions, and only upon said conditions, to-wit:

“(a) That the parents and each of them shall at all times comply with the laws of Utah relating to marriage and sexual offenses.

“(b) That the parents and each of them shall at all times refrain from counseling, encouraging and advising the children to violate the laws of Utah relating to marriage and sexual offenses.

*“(c) That the parents and each of them shall counsel and advise the children to obey the laws of Utah relating to marriage and sexual offenses. This requirement shall not be satisfied by the pretense of telling the children that they have ‘free agency’, but it is intended that the parents shall affirmatively encourage their children to abide by the laws of Utah, and that the children should do so in disregard to any religious doctrines to the contrary. * * *” (R. 8).*

Of the above recited conditions the parents complained by writ of habeas corpus, issued out of this Honorable Court and made returnable before the Fourth Judicial District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable William Stanley Dunford presiding. There were other matters raised in the complaint for said writ but with which, in this cause, we are not concerned. *This appeal is being taken solely for the purpose of determining what the law is, in this State, as to the matters subject to review or collateral attack in habeas corpus proceedings.*

There is now in process an appeal from the ruling of the juvenile court in this cause which will concern itself with all other issues of which these respondents complain. Your appellants here seek only this Court’s guidance in the handling of similar cases, with which the juvenile courts of this State are now faced or in which they may hereinafter become involved. The Honorable Judge of the Fourth Judicial District ordered, adjudged and decreed:

“(a) That the judgment of the Juvenile Court of Washington County, State of Utah, made and entered on or about the 11th day of May, 1954, is null and void as in violation of the Amendments

One and Fourteen of the Constitution of the United States of America, and in violation of Sections 1-4-7 of Article One of the Constitution of the State of Utah, and in derogation of the plaintiffs' rights of freedom of speech and freedom of religion.

“(b) That the custody of the children of the plaintiffs is hereby restored to their parents, the plaintiffs, upon the conditions, pending the appeal of the above entitled case, that the parents do not live together as man and wife, that they retain the custody of the children within the geographic bounds of the State of Utah and return them to this court or to any other court which may have jurisdiction at any time that they are ordered by said court to do so” (R. 45, 46).

We concede that the writ of habeas corpus did lie and was properly made returnable before the district court and further that that court could properly consider and adjudicate the legality of the restraint. However, we think that the district court did err, after having considered the legality of the restraint and ruled thereupon, by proceeding thereafter to adjudicate questions going to the qualifications and fitness of the parents to retain custody of their children. Counsel for defendants made objection to this collateral attack and review of the findings of the juvenile court (R. 25, 26), and we here renew that objection. We complain of that portion of the findings of fact of the district court, made as follows:

* * * * *

“7. That the plaintiffs and parents of the said children, Leonard Black and Vera Johnson Black, are with the single exception of the alleged practice of plural marriage, people of high moral character

and integrity, and that the community in which they live is void from many of the evils that beset more populous communities such as smoking, drinking, divorce, unemployment, juvenile vandalism, thievery and juvenile delinquency and that it is for the best interest of the said children to be in their homes at Short Creek under the custody of their parents, the plaintiffs in the above entitled action" (R. 43).

* * * * *

for the reason and upon the ground that such a finding was made upon matters reviewable upon appeal from the order of the juvenile court, but not subject to review or collateral attack in habeas corpus proceedings.

It would serve no useful purpose to recite the facts presented to the Fourth Judicial District Court. We confine ourselves to the principle of law involved and need not impose upon this Court the onerous task of studying the transcript.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THE JUDGMENT OF THE JUVENILE COURT NULL AND VOID AS IN VIOLATION OF AMENDMENTS ONE AND FOURTEEN OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND OF ARTICLE ONE OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN REVIEWING IN HABEAS CORPUS PROCEEDINGS THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE JUVENILE COURT AS TO SUBJECT MATTER RELATING TO FITNESS OF PARENTS TO HAVE CUSTODY OF CHILDREN.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THE JUDGMENT OF THE JUVENILE COURT NULL AND VOID AS IN VIOLATION OF AMENDMENTS ONE AND FOURTEEN OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND OF ARTICLE ONE OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

A companion case pending before this Honorable Court, titled "*State of Utah, In the Interest of Elsie Johnson Black, et al.*," seeks an adjudication of the constitutionality of the judgment of the juvenile court as declared void in the proceedings from which we here appeal. Therefore, appellants request the Court's permission to waive argument on this Point I for the reason that the said companion case will resolve that issue.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN REVIEWING IN HABEAS CORPUS PROCEEDINGS THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF THE JUVENILE COURT AS TO SUBJECT MATTER RELATING TO FITNESS OF PARENTS TO HAVE CUSTODY OF CHILDREN.

The Utah statute, 55-10-5, U. C. A. 1953, provides in part:

“The juvenile court shall have exclusive original jurisdiction in all cases relating to the neglect, dependency and delinquency of children who are under eighteen years of age, * * *.”

And, also:

“Nothing herein contained shall deprive other courts of the right to determine the custody of children upon writs of habeas corpus, * * *.”

Section 55-10-34, U. C. A. 1953, makes a final judgment or order of the juvenile court depriving a parent, custodian or guardian of the custody of a child appealable direct to the Supreme Court; and, this Court has held that matters reviewable on appeal, but which do not go to the juvenile court's jurisdiction are not subject to review or collateral attack in habeas corpus proceedings. *Ex Parte S. H.*, ... Utah ... , 264 P. 2d 850. Our Court has also held:

“In habeas Corpus proceedings, nothing is inquired into except the legality of the restraint.”

Jones v. Moore, 61 Utah 383, 213 P. 191, 193.

Chapman v. Graham, ... Utah ... , 270 P. 2d 821.

From the case of *Jensen v. Sevy*, 103 Utah 220, 134 P. 2d 1081, confusion, if any there be, springs. That cause was before this Court on an application for writ of mandamus to compel the district judge to hold a hearing on a writ of habeas corpus in a child custody case. An alternative writ issued directing the court to hold such hearing, or to show cause why he did not do so. The court below filed an answer joining issue to show cause and justify. It was the conclusion and order of the district court that that court was without jurisdiction or authority to hear or consider the writ of habeas corpus or to make any determination therein with reference to the custody of the child. The opinion of Mr. Justice Larson, concurred in by Justice Moffat, holds, as the writer interprets that holding, that the district court *could* decline to pass upon questions of custody and leave the same for determination by the juvenile court under that portion of Section 55-10-5(4), U. C. A. 1953, which provides:

“* * * Such other courts may, however, decline to pass upon question of custody and may certify the same to the juvenile court for hearing and determination or recommendation.”

This leaves, by inference at least, the proposition that the district court might, within the exercise of its discretion, hear, consider, review and determine matters of custody theretofore decreed upon by the juvenile court. In the case at bar, the Honorable Judge William Stanley Dunford so proceeded, pointing out in his memorandum decision that three judges in concurring opinions held, in *Jensen v. Sevy*, supra, that where the juvenile court has obtained jurisdiction of a child because of neglect, dependency or delin-

quency, the district court must dismiss the writ and it is not discretionary, but distinguishing that case from the case at bar for the reason that the petitioner there had not exhausted his legal remedy by seeking modification of the conditional order of the juvenile court (R. 25, 26).

Let us again reiterate that we are not here complaining of the holding of the district court as to legality of the restraint, although we do not admit that such was not error. We contend that the finding as to the illegality of the restraint entitled the petitioners only to the relief sought within the scope of habeas corpus—the discharge of the children from custody. Such discharge of the children could have been made conditional by the court, either upon review of the holding of the district court or upon the outcome of an appeal from the finding, as to neglect, of the juvenile court. *Chapman v. Graham*, supra. However, we earnestly urge that further findings should not have been made, nor order thereon issued, depriving the juvenile court of its continuing jurisdiction over the children previously acquired by that court under authority of Section 55-10-5(3), U. C. A. 1953.

The case of *Jensen v. Sevy*, supra, also sustains the following propositions:

(A) That the Legislature has the power to give to the juvenile court exclusive jurisdiction of cases of neglect or delinquency of children.

(B) That the right to the writ of habeas corpus is in no way infringed by legislation giving the juvenile court exclusive jurisdiction of cases of neglect or delinquency of children.

(C) That subsection (4), 55-10-5, U. C. A. 1953, cannot be construed to apply to cases in which the State has become a party by intervention of the juvenile court.

As to (C) above, Mr. Justice Hoyt said:

“* * * To hold otherwise is to hold that by reason of subsection (4) * * * the district courts have concurrent jurisdiction with the juvenile courts in cases of alleged neglect of children.
* * *

Appellants here contend that if subsection (4) of 55-10-5, U. C. A. 1953, is to be construed as being applicable to the case at bar, the result of such construction would be the emasculation of subsection (3) of that statute, which provides:

“When jurisdiction shall have been acquired by the court in the case of any child, such child shall continue for the purposes of such case under the jurisdiction of the court until he becomes twenty-one years of age, unless discharged prior thereto or unless he is committed to the state industrial school or to the district court as hereinafter provided.”

Therefore, the question presented here resolves itself to this—and we ask the Court:

On the writ of habeas corpus may the district court, after disposing of any question of the legality of the restraint of a neglected, dependent or delinquent child, disturb the previously acquired jurisdiction of the juvenile court by considering questions of fitness and custody of a parent or guardian of such a child which are reviewable on appeal to the Supreme Court, but which do not go to the juvenile court's jurisdiction and are not subject to review or collateral attack in habeas corpus proceedings?

CONCLUSION

Our Legislature, in its wisdom, has for all practical purposes conferred parental powers and duties upon the juvenile courts of this State over neglected, dependent or delinquent children. There have been vested no such responsibilities upon the district courts of this State. We think it now well settled in this State that if the juvenile court has jurisdiction in the premises, its judgment, order, or decree is final as to all parties to the proceedings, is not subject to collateral attack, and cannot be challenged except in a direct action brought in some appellate tribunal. Therefore, in the case at bar, it *may not* be successfully contended that the district court could utilize the writ of habeas corpus for the purpose of proceedings in error. There is no doubt in our mind that had there been no question raised as to the legality of the restraint of these children, the Honorable Court below would have dismissed the writ; and done so upon the ground that the issues raised (as to the parents' fitness, right to custody, neglect, delinquency, etc.) were not subject to review in habeas corpus proceedings. That is the well established law of this State.

For what reason then should the district court review such factual matters in this case? Did such review accomplish a desired result? We think not. Sufficient it would have been for the district court to have confined its findings to the issues raised within the scope of habeas corpus. As the record in the cause now stands, we have conflicting findings made by the juvenile court and by the district court, neither of which are final, which tend only to confuse the real issue as to the right to custody of these

children. That issue can only be determined through appropriate appeal to this Court. The question as to the legality of the restraint, on jurisdictional or constitutional grounds, is in no way related to the matters appealable directly from the juvenile court to this Honorable Court. Should we concede, for the purpose of argument, but not admitting the fact, that the restraint was unlawful, would not the discharge of the children sought by the petitioners for the writ, conditional or unconditional, have accomplished the object of, and satisfied the purpose of, the writ of habeas corpus. We so conclude.

The findings of the district court as to whether or not the persons subject to the proceedings in the juvenile court were neglected children within the meaning of the laws of Utah should be set aside and held for naught.