1954

# Leonard Black and Vera Johnson v. David F. Anderson : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

Point 1. The court acted properly in declaring the judgment of the Juvenile Court null and void as in violation of Amendments One and Fourteen of the Constitution of the United States of America and of Article One of the Constitution of the State of Utah.

This point is intended to squarely controvert Point 1 of Appellants' brief. In their argument to Point 1 on page 6 of their brief Appellants make the following statement;

"A companion case pending before this Honorable Court titled 'State of Utah, in the Interest of Elsie Johnson Black, et al.,' seeks an adjudication of the constitutionality of the judgment of the juvenile court as declared void in the proceedings from which we here appeal. Therefore, appellants request the Court's permission to waive argument on this Point 1 for the reason that the said companion case will resolve that issue."

Respondents agree that the said companion case, Case No. 8220, deals with the constitutionality of the Decree and Judgment of the Juvenile Court. We also request the Court's permission to waive argument on this Point 1 "for the reason that the said companion case will resolve that issue." Respondents wish to point out their position that said Decree and Judgment of the Juvenile Court is null and void in that it sets up requirements which are contrary to the provisions of Sections 1, 4, 7, and 15 of Article 1 of the Constitution of Utah and Amendments 1 and 14 of the Constitution of the United States of America, in that said requirements violate the constitutional guarantees of freedom of speech and freedom of religion.

Point 2. The District Court in habeas Corpus proceedings involving custody of minors must act as a court of equity and award custody

as the best interests of the minors shall indicate, hearing and deciding all questions of fact involved and making conclusions of law to achieve this end.

The Appellants cite the case of JONES v. MOORE, 61 Utah 383, 213 P. 191 (1923) as authority for the proposition that "In habeas corpus proceedings, nothing is inquired into except the legality of the restraint." The case may well be authority for that proposition, but analysis of that case will show that it is more correctly authority for the proposition that a proceeding involving the custody of minors is one which is highly equitable in nature and one which will be decided in such a manner as to reflect the best interests of the children involved.

In the case of JONES v. MOORE the plaintiff sought to obtain the custody of his minor daughter, under two years of age, which child had been left with the defendants, maternal grandparents, since

birth. In the original hearing below the defendants won and had an award of custody. Plaintiff, however, filed a motion for a new trial and while the motion was pending, the judge who heard the case was retired from office. The new judge granted the motion after counsel had stipulated that he should rule on it. After a further stipulation to that effect, the new judge ruled on the evidence as presented in the original hearing and gave custody to the plaintiff father. The court in upholding the decision of the lower court awarding the custody to the father considered this question: "Can a case like the one at bar be treated as a law case merely?" The court answered in the negative, saying that this type of a case is an equitable proceeding. The court, Mr. Justice Frick writing the opinion, reasoned as follows:

"While it is true that the proceeding, in form at least, is habeas corpus proceeding, it is, however, so merely as a matter

of convenience to the parties and to expedite a hearing upon the issues. No case involving the custody of minor children has ever been tried or considered in this jurisdiction as merely a habeas corpus proceeding, although the case in form is such. In habeas corpus proceedings nothing is inquired into except the legality of the restraint<sup>+</sup>, and if it be found that the petitioner is illegally deprived of his liberty, but one conclusion is permissible, and that is that the same must be restored to him. Where, as here, however, the sole issue involved is who shall have the custody, care, and education of a child, and especially one of tender years the inquiry extends far beyond the ordinary issues involved in a habeas corpus proceeding. Cases like the one at bar partake of all the incidents of a proceeding in equity. Indeed, under our procedure, it has become a proceeding which is equitable in the highest degree, as clearly appears from the decisions in all of the cases decided by this court, where the right to the custody, nurture, care, and education of children was the controlling issue. See *Stanford v. Gray*, 42 Utah 229, 12 Pac. 423, Ann. Cas. 1916A, 989; *Hummel v. Parrish*, 43 Utah 373, 134 Pac. 898; *Harrison v. Harker*, 44 Utah 541, 142 Pac. 716; *Farmer v. Christensen*, 55 Utah 1, 183 Pac. 328; *Kurtz v. Christensen* (Utah) 209 Pac. 340. In view of the equitable nature of the proceeding, this court, in *Harrison v. Harker*, supra, held that the rule applicable in equity cases prevails, namely, that this court must examine into the evidence, and, in case the findings of the trial court are clearly against the evidence, they will not be upheld. In every case of this character that has come before

this court during the past 17 years while the writer has been a member, the proceeding has always been considered and treated as equitable. The mere fact that such cases are commenced under the habeas corpus statute in order to expedite a speedy hearing and determination of the case cannot alter the issues involved nor the nature of the proceeding. Moreover, from time immemorial the chancellors and not the law court have determined the controversies respecting the care, nurture, education, and custody of minor children. The technicalities of the law must therefore give way to the more important questions, all of which appeal most strongly to the conscience of the chancellor. To that effect are all of the decisions. There is therefore - there can be - no merit to the contention that these cases should be treated merely as law cases, ...."

The court in this case clearly quoted the general rule as cited by the Appellants but, in the language just set out, then went on to point out that in cases involving the "custody, nurture, care, and education of children" the court will look "far beyond the ordinary issues involved in a habeas corpus proceeding." The Respondents concede that the District Court in the instant case went beyond the usual scope of inquiry in

habeas corpus matters, but it did so because it was required to do so by the very nature of the case it was considering. The District Court was bound to inquire, in the nature of an inquiry as by a court of equity, as to all the facts and circumstances surrounding the custody of the minors whose disposition it was, by the proceeding, called upon to decide.

Such an inquiry is by its very nature bound to be a broad one. That it should be so broad as to involve consideration by the District Court of much the same facts and circumstances as would be considered by the Juvenile Court in a case of alleged neglect is not surprising.

In speaking of the meaning of the term "best interests" of the child as being determinative of the courts' proper judgment in matters of this nature, the court in the JONES case said,

"Without now pausing to go into the question of what may be involved within the term 'best interests', it must suffice to say that



that term as it is understood and applied in cases like the one at bar has reference more particularly to the moral welfare than to mere comforts, benefits, or advantages that wealth can give. If such were not the case, poor parents could not sustain their right to the custody of a child in which a rich man has taken a special interest, and where between himself and the child there exists a strong liking or affection. It is the comparatively poor and not the rich parents who rear the large families and who give to the world a large majority of the men and women who conduct its affairs. Unless, therefore, a parent has by his acts and conduct in some way forfeited or lost the right to custody of his minor child the presumptions respecting his right to have such custody are all in his favor. If the cases of this character heretofore decided by this court are critically examined, it will be found that such is the spirit that pervades all of them..."

It is readily seen that the duty of determining, in cases of this sort, what is in the best interests of the children is a very particular and highly important duty. It is easy to conceive that the District Court in making this inquiry may have uncovered certain facts which did not come to the attention of the Juvenile Court which compelled it to come to a legal

conclusion at complete variance to that arrived at by the Juvenile Court. Could the District Court escape its judicial duty of considering what was to the best interests of the children by pointing to the fact that the Juvenile Court make certain Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law with reference to the family before it in a matter brought before that Juvenile Court on a petition alleging neglect? The rule of the JONES case indicates no circumstance or set of circumstances under which the District Court, in a habeas corpus proceeding properly brought before it involving the custody of minors, may escape this obligation.

The rule of the JONES case is still the rule by which the courts of this State are bound. The JONES case was reaffirmed by the case of CHAPMAN v. GRAHAM, \_\_\_Utah\_\_\_, 270 P. (2d) 821 (1954). In this case Chapman had obtained a writ of habeas corpus releasing him from confinement at the State

Prison. The writ was granted on grounds that Chapman had been subjected to cruel and unusual punishment, in that, the prison officials had refused to permit him to return to the Mayo Clinic in Minnesota for certain surgery. Chapman had previously been paroled so that he might undergo treatment at the Mayo Clinic but had been returned to prison for a parole violation. This court on the appeal ruled that Chapman had not been subjected to cruel and unusual punishment and that he should not have been discharged as a result of the habeas corpus proceeding. This court also held that the lower court under the circumstances should have made the discharge conditional.

In the opinion of the court written by Mr. Justice Henroid, the function of the writ of habeas corpus is dealt with as follows:

"Use of the writ in a case like this would pierce and wound the administrative processes of constitutionally created executive agencies with a habeas corpus lance thrust by the judiciary. Almost universally such use has been condemned, and the function

of habeas corpus has been confined to a single test: That of legality of restraint (Coburn v. Schroeder, 71 Olk. Cr. 405, 112 P. 2d 191; Kauble v. Haynes, D. C., 64 F. Supp. 153; Sarshik v. Sanford, 5 Cir., 142 F. 2d 676; Edmondson v. Warden, 194 Md. 707, 69 A. 2d. 919; Ex parte Pickens, D. C., 101 F. Supp. 285; Siegel v. Ragen, D. C., 88 F. Supp. 996. Contra: Harper v. Wall, D. C., 85 F. Supp. 783.), even to the exclusion of those cases where an individual's health has been shown to be in jeopardy. We have adopted such view in Jones v. Moore, 1923, 61 Utah 383, 213 P. 191, 193, where we said that 'In habeas corpus proceedings nothing is inquired into except the legality of the restraint.' We re-affirm that principle as it applies to cases like this and as applied to child custody cases where the welfare of children may lend a different complexion to, but not a basic difference in the principle...

"We prefer to adhere to the principle, until that rare case approaches which to date we have not encountered, that courts, by means of the writ, will not interfere with the management, control or internal affairs, nor will they, nor can they substitute their judgment in discretionary matters for those of administrative agencies of a different department of government... "

This case, as is pointed out by the Appellants is authority for the general rule that, "In habeas corpus proceedings nothings is inquired into except the legality of the restraint." The

The court said that it reaffirmed "that principle as it applied to cases like this and as applied to child custody cases where the welfare of children may lend a different complexion to, but not a basic difference in the principle ..." The court there recognizes the peculiar nature of cases involving the custody of children. They are cases in which "the welfare of children may lend a different complexion to, but not a basic difference in the principle." The court did not overrule the JONES case, but, rather, it seems to have emphasized the rule of that case. It seems to have pointed out the obvious, that, in cases involving the custody of children, the inquiry as to the legality of the restraint must go far and beyond the inquiry made in an ordinary habeas corpus matter. Naturally, the very broad scope of such an inquiry might lead one to feel that these cases are outside the rule; however, as the court so carefully points out

"the welfare of children" in these cases "may lend a different complexion to, but not a basic difference in the principle."

When the District Court in the instant case inquired into the fitness of these parents to have the care and custody of these children, it did so in order to determine whether these children were illegally restrained. In making its inquiry it must be governed by the rules constraining all courts. It must get the facts, make its findings and draw its legal conclusions. The District Court in this case made its inquiry. It had witnesses before it, it listened to their testimony. The District Court then made its findings of fact and conclusions of law while cognizant of the fact that it was required to act under the cases as in the nature of a court of equity and in the best interests of the children.

The rule of the JONES case, that cases involving the custody of minors are cases equitable

in nature which must be decided in the best interests of the children involved, has been followed and reenunciated in all cases where these questions have been raised. We note a few of these cases in passing.

WALLICK v. VANCE, 76 Utah 209, 289 P. 103 (1930) was a case in which the father of a minor child appealed from a decree of the lower court awarding custody of his daughter to her aunt, the father's sister. The court in that case, having the question of custody of a minor before it, upheld the lower court in its action in deciding the question of custody so as to best serve the child's welfare and interests.

HARDCASTLE v. HARDCASTLE, 118 Utah 192, 221 P. (2d) 883 (1950), although not a habeas corpus matter but a matter involving a petition to modify a divorce so as to obtain custody of a minor child, is another case in which the best interests of the child was the decisive issue in the case.

In IN RE BRADLEY, 109 Utah 539, 167 P. (2d) 978, (1946), the mother of a minor child appealed from the Juvenile Court's denial of her petition that the custody be returned to her. The Supreme Court upheld the Juvenile Court but ruled, on page 984 (P.), as follows:

"Before determining this question we call attention to the fact that cases involving the custody of a child are cases in equity and this court is required to determine the facts as well as the law. Harrison v. Harker, supra; Jones v. Moore, 61 Utah 383, 213 P. 191; Jensen v. Earley, supra; Wallick v. Vance, 76 Utah 209, 289 P. 103."

In BALDWIN v. NIELSON, 110 Utah 172, 170 P. (2d)179 (1946), the rehearing of which case appears in the reports at 110 Utah 180, 174 P. (2d) 437 (1946), a father by habeas corpus sought custody of his minor son from the family of the child's deceased mother. In agreeing with the decision of the lower court awarding custody to the father, the court in both opinions followed the rule that in cases of this kind the most important consideration



is what will be for the best interests and welfare of the child.

WALTON v. COFFMAN, 110 Utah 1, 169 P. (2d) 97 (1946) is a habeas corpus case involving the custody of a minor. The court said it was an equity case. The court, Mr. Justice Wade writing the opinion, on page 100(P.), went into the question of the office of the writ of habeas corpus in cases involving the custody of children, as follows:

"Under the English Common law, originally, the writ of habeas corpus was used only in cases of arrest or forceable restraint under claim of authority of law. Later it was broadened to cover all kinds of cases where one person forceably restrained another of his liberty whether under claim of authority of law or not and in cases where the restraint was such that the person restrained was unable to make application in person for the writ, other persons were allowed to do so in his behalf and this applied in cases of children as well as adults. In all of these cases originally, at least in theory, if the court found that there was unlawful restraint, it merely ordered the person freed from the restraint. But in cases of small children unable to exercise mature judgment in such matters, who are always the wards of

someone, they were held to be the wards of courts of equity, and such courts tried out the question, usually, of which of two contending parties should have the custody of the child. In so doing, courts of equity, as the sovereign power exercising the king's conscience, made the choice for the child, and placed the child in the custody of the person where its best interests and welfare would be subserved. This jurisdiction of equity had developed long before the American revolution... This jurisdiction has been followed in the states and it is generally held that the determining factor is the best interest and welfare of the child..."

The District Court in the instant case was faced with a situation in which both plaintiffs and defendants claimed they should have the care and custody of these children. Confronted with this situation in a habeas corpus matter what was the court required to do? First of all, it had to inquire into the legality of the restraint. It had to answer at the very beginning the question as to whether these children were properly being held by the parties designated to care for them by the Utah State Department of Public Welfare. In answering that question, it had to determine

whether the decision of the Juvenile Court awarding the custody of these children to the Utah State Department of Public Welfare was a correct one, and if it were an improper decision, were its faults such as might be corrected on appeal or were they such as to result in a void judgment by the Juvenile Court. If, as found by the District Court, the judgment of the Juvenile Court was so violative of human rights guaranteed by the Constitution of United States of America and by the Constitution of the State of Utah as to be utterly void, the court then had no alternative; it had to release the children from the unlawful restraint.

It seems to be the position of the Appellants as expressed in their brief that the District Court should have stopped with the discharge, that it should not have restored the custody of the children to their parents and especially that it should not have inquired into the fitness of

the parents to have the care and custody of their children. Having determined that the Decree and Judgment under which the children were being restrained was unconstitutional and void and being faced with the necessity of discharging the children, the District Court then had a situation before it wherein children, who had been taken from the custody of their parents and placed in the custody of the State Department of Public Welfare, were now to be discharged from the custody of that department. Was the District Court free, then to discharge these children, minors of tender age, and to place them in the custody of no one, or did it have the obligation as a court of equity to consider the fact that these minors should be placed in the custody of persons capable of taking care of them and to decide the question as to who were the proper persons to have custody?

The question would seem logically to answer itself. The District Court, as a court of equity,

could not have released these children from the illegal restraint imposed upon them by the Juvenile Court and have provided for them nothing further. There was no way for the District Court to evade the obvious question: Who are the proper parties to have the custody of these children? There is always a presumption in favor of the parents when such a question is presented. The parents were before the Court seeking the custody of their children. The Court had the clear obligation of determining the fitness of the parents to have custody. This it did, and it restored the custody of the children to the parents. Certainly, its Findings of Fact on this issue are at variance with those made by the Juvenile Court. The Findings of Fact of the District Court are clearly supported by the evidence presented before it. Even the Appellants do not dispute this fact. The District Court would not have been able to have ignored the evidence presented before it

and have refused these parents the care and custody of their children and to have given as its reason for doing so the fact that the Juvenile Court had determined that these parents were unfit. The District Court was certain from the testimony of the witnesses who had appeared before it that these parents were the proper persons to have the care and custody of their children. It had no alternative but to restore that custody to those parents.

The Appellants conclude that the District Court had no right to consider the matter of the parents' fitness to have the custody of their children, and they cite on page 7 of their brief the case of EX PARTE S. H., 1 Utah (2d) 186, 264 P. (2d) 850 (1953) as authority for the proposition "that matters reviewable on appeal, but which do not go to the juvenile court's jurisdiction are not subject to review or collateral attack in habeas corpus proceedings."

In the case of EX PARTE S. H., a 13 year old

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